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			Introduction

			April 22, 1995

			The rain intensified as it swept across the valley to our front. All around us the shooting died away. When we were sure it was safe enough to stand up we started moving away from our position. Five of us had spent the past couple of hours crouched behind the knee-high sandbag wall. The bunker felt pathetically small, but somehow it protected all of us from the Rwandan Patriotic Army’s (RPA) ferocious incoming fire. Even though they were not firing at us directly, a lot of their rounds had come our way. The odd one had been deliberately fired in our direction to try and provoke one of us into firing back. That would have given them just the excuse they wanted to wipe us out. The RPA didn’t like the United Nations being there and made no bones about it. What we needed to do now was get ourselves and our gear quickly, quietly and safely packed on to our vehicles. Hopefully then we could leave this place in one piece.

			As we gathered up what was left of our medical supplies and personal gear, we could see hundreds and hundreds of dead bodies littering the ground. We could hear the injured crying out in pain. But there was nothing more we could do that day to help these people. We had to get out while it was still daylight, or we might never get out at all. We could only hope the RPA would let us leave after what we had just witnessed. They had just murdered thousands of unarmed, starving, thirsty and helpless men, women, and children. Even babies had not been spared. Some of those who had survived the lethal onslaught of 50 caliber machineguns, AK47 rifles, rocket-propelled grenades and mortars were ruthlessly hunted down and bayoneted to death where they lay injured. We had just witnessed what became known as the “Kibeho Massacre”. Would the Rwandan Patriotic Army allow witnesses to this atrocity leave the Kibeho refugee camp and tell the world what had happened? Or were they going to wipe us out as well?

			I was one of 32 Australian soldiers in the area. We were facing more than 2,000 RPA soldiers. We were good, but not that good. The numbers were heavily in their favour. I was worried but I wasn’t scared. All I had was questions. How the hell had a medical mercy mission ended in such a horrific tragedy? How had it been allowed to even get to this? Why were we not allowed to fire our weapons and defend these poor refugees? God, I thought, I hope we live through this day. And if we do – I tell you what – won’t I have a story to tell.

			Chapter One

			Soldier, medic

			“When I returned to Tasmania I found myself at the army recruiting office in Hobart. I applied to join even though I had no idea what I wanted to do. I thought I could handle working as a soldier for 20 years if it meant that I could retire like my father had. And I would still be a young man at only 38. Stuff not wanting to kill anyone, I thought, and anyway the Vietnam War is over. Australian troops were not fighting anywhere at the time so I reckoned my chances of having to kill were slim.”

			I was destined to join the Army. For as long as I could remember my father was a soldier. He served in the British army before joining the Australian ranks. We moved around a lot. Whenever we arrived somewhere new I was faced with a familiar routine: new army house, new school full of army children, new army community. At one place even the public pool was run by the Army. Sometimes we crossed paths with people we knew who were moving around just like us. It wasn’t as if I wanted to become a soldier. It was just meant to be.

			At school I excelled at cadets. I loved the spit polish and the time we spent out bush. Drill was easy – anyone could follow orders. And I really enjoyed firing weapons when I had the chance. My older brother, Ken, joined the army reserve when he was old enough and then the regular Army as soon as he could. Most of the kids I grew up with joined the Army. The Vietnam War was on and all I ever saw on TV was the Army.

			Yet I swore blind there was no way I was going to join the very organisation which had played such a big part in my life already. I believed that all life was precious. I didn’t want to become a soldier and kill people. Some of the TV pictures coming out of Vietnam were very disturbing. A lot of people were dying horribly. I never understood why somebody would ever want to kill another person. Instead I wanted to do an apprenticeship in radio electronics. The problem was I had left school at the end of grade 10. 
To be accepted as an apprentice I would have to do another year. That was not going to happen. My dad wanted me to find a job so I could make my own way in the world. After working in a few different Hobart factories I ended up packing groceries and collecting trolleys at a Coles supermarket.

			Not surprisingly, there didn’t seem to be much of a future in any of the jobs I tried. They were all monotonous and boring. Sure, I made enough money to get by on my own but life was not leading me anywhere. My parents, Ken and Geraldine, had moved to South Australia and I was visiting one day when Dad told me he would soon be able to retire from the Army on a decent pension. To a 17-year-old that sounded pretty good considering he was only 45. He had served the 20 years in the Australian Army required to earn a pension and had reached the rank of captain in the Royal Australian Army Medical Corps where he was a quartermaster.

			When I returned to Tasmania I found myself at the army recruiting office in Hobart. I applied to join even though I had no idea what I wanted to do. I thought I could handle working as a soldier for 20 years if it meant that I could retire like my father had. And I would still be a young man at only 38. Stuff not wanting to kill anyone, I thought, and anyway the Vietnam War is over. Australian troops were not fighting anywhere at the time so I reckoned my chances of having to kill were slim.

			While the Army was a big influence in my life, it wasn’t keen to have me full time. My application was rejected because they didn’t think I was mature enough. The recruiters told me I should spend at least a year learning what life was about before trying again. After a couple more months working at Coles and a few more factories I had another go. This time they said they were not recruiting anyone from Tasmania! I kept working and saving and a month later flew to Melbourne to try my luck there. I was rejected again on the grounds that I was too young and immature. Next stop: South Australia and a glimmer of hope. “Reapply just before you turn 18,” I was told, “and think about what you want to do.” I thought I could be a medic. That way I wouldn’t be trying to kill anyone, I would be fixing them instead. I applied again and was finally accepted, six months after my eighteenth birthday.

			The twelve weeks of recruit training went by in the blink of an eye. It was a breeze. I easily handled the discipline and enjoyed the field work and weapons training as much as I had in cadets. I successfully applied for the Medical Corps and did my first course at the School of Army Health in the small, picturesque Victorian town of Healesville. I spent six months there doing what was a four-week course, and spent the rest of the time working in the gardens or as a steward in the officer’s mess. The next seven months were spent at 2nd Military Hospital at Ingleburn near Sydney on a medical assistant course before my first posting to the 1st Australian Field Hospital nearby. In the first year I was promoted to lance corporal before accepting a posting on promotion to full corporal to the proof and experimental establishment at Port Wakefield in South Australia for two years. It was during this time that I met and married my first wife, Sue, and we had a son, Daniel.

			After two years in my home state of South Australia we moved back to Healesville where I served as one of the only two corporal instructors at the School of Army Health. For the next two years I taught basic medical courses to new medical corps recruits, advanced first aid to the Special Air Service soldiers and basic first aid to other groups and courses around the state. Unfortunately, my family life wasn’t going as well. Sue and I had married young and it wasn’t working. We separated and Daniel and Sue moved closer to her Sydney family. It was the right thing for him because I was spending a lot of time away from home.

			From Healesville I moved to Brisbane and the 1st Military Hospital at Yeronga where I became an instructor on the medical assistant training wing. By now I was one of the most senior corporals in the Medical Corps. But I had got into some trouble at Healesville and there was no chance of being promoted to sergeant until I proved I was a responsible corporal. I had shown poor judgment when I established a relationship with a student. It was wrong and I should have known better. My punishment was an administrative warning from the commanding officer. I had the option of proving my worth during the next six months or being discharged. My career was very important to me so I took it on the chin and set out to make amends. My chance came when I was selected for a three-month tour of duty to Malaysia with 8th/9th Battalion with two other medics. I also ran first aid instruction for several other units for which I was awarded a military skills award by the brigade commander.

			Back in Australia I requested a posting to 8/9RAR as a company medic, even though I was told it would delay my chances of promotion for at least a whole year. I wanted the move because it meant I would be working more closely with infantry and would be the sole medic for an entire company – a real challenge. Twelve years had passed since I joined up and I was determined to earn that promotion. I learned fast and did a good job. It was good enough for them to put me on the courses I needed to do to become a sergeant. I passed easily and accepted a posting on promotion to sergeant to the School of Artillery at Manly in Sydney.

			Two rather boring years spent mainly doing sick parades and paperwork was alleviated by the more enjoyable task of first aid instructing around Sydney, including the water transport unit. I missed the bush work that I’d enjoyed in my time with the infantry, but I was revelling in being a sergeant at long last. Life at home was also looking up. I had met Tara in Brisbane before moving to Sydney and we were married. Our wedding reception was held in the sergeant’s mess.

			After two years I accepted a posting back to Brisbane, this time to the 2nd/14th Light Horse Regiment in Enoggera. This was my type of unit. We were often out bush in APCs and I still taught first aid to other units as well as ours. I completed the APC driver and crew commander’s courses which helped me teach military skills along with medical ones. I excelled in this environment and was soon nominated to do some of my warrant officer’s courses. I passed easily.

			It was about this time that I began to follow the United Nations missions. I had previously been accepted to go to Namibia as a medic while I was a corporal in 8/9RAR, but the mission ended before I left. My brother Ken had served as a medic in Cambodia and the UN mission in Somalia had just swung into action. I wrote to the head of the medical corps, volunteering myself for a UN mission. By now all I wanted to do after 15 years in the army was go on one of these missions and test my skills as a medic and a soldier in a hostile environment. It didn’t look like there was much on the horizon so I thought the next best thing was the unit survival instructor’s course in Darwin. It was one of the hardest courses around. Some failed the course, but I passed. I was ready for anything. While in Darwin I heard talk of a UN medical mission to a country in Africa I knew nothing about. Rwanda.

			Chapter Two

			Pre-deployment

			“A lot of questions were running through my head. Am I a good enough medic? Am I a good enough soldier? Am I fit enough? How well will I cope, working under pressure? What will it be like there? Is it possible that I might die? Who will look after my family while I am away?”

			I arrived at Brisbane airport from the Northern Territory late in the afternoon of September 22nd, 1994. The first thing I did when I got home was call my unit, 2nd/14th Light Horse Regiment, to confirm I had the rest of the week off. Waiting for me was a message to urgently call my squadron commander. He told me I had been nominated to go to Rwanda for the next rotation, but not to get my hopes up because it was only a unit nomination. Tara was really pissed off. I had just been away for a month and she was three months’ pregnant. But, deep down, I was excited at the prospect of going on a UN mission. This was the sort of thing I had spent my career training for.

			The list of personnel for the second Rwandan contingent was supposed to be announced on November 15th, but had to be delayed for more than a week while Parliament approved the rotation. On November 24th my squadron commander told me the list had been released and that nobody from Enoggera was on it. I was really disappointed, but at least I had an answer. That morning in the sergeant’s mess one of my mates joked that the only place I would be going now was the School of Army Health to teach the new medics who would be going to Rwanda instead of me. The disappointment didn’t last long. I was having physiotherapy for an elbow injury on December 9th when my commanding officer called. There had been a change to the deployment list. I was definitely going and could expect a posting order within the week. I went home to tell Tara but I think deep down she was already resigned to me going. Four days later my posting order arrived.

			It was now time to get myself prepared. I had a dental check-up before facing my overseas medical board. As the unit’s senior medic I had access to my own medical file. I was so determined to be on the UN mission I went through the file and removed anything I thought might be a concern for the doctor. Just in case! There was no need to worry. I was declared fully fit for overseas service.

			My sergeant mates in the quartermaster’s store equipped me with everything I needed before heading to Townsville for pre-deployment training: new uniforms, extra boots, even a second trunk. Passports were arranged and delivered. Blood was taken to make sure I didn’t have HIV or Hepatitis B. A course of thirteen injections was supposed to help me fend off cholera, typhoid, tetanus and other nasties.

			I also needed to be mentally prepared. A lot of questions were running through my head. Am I a good enough medic? Am I a good enough soldier? Am I fit enough? How well will I cope, working under pressure? What will it be like there? Is it possible that I might die? Who will look after my family while I am away? It was important to address each one of these questions and try to come up with a satisfactory answer, even if it was only for my peace of mind. The family situation was resolved by talking to army welfare, neighbours and unit staff. They would help look after my family by taking care of things like lawn-mowing and gardening. Neighbours would worry about changing light bulbs or fuses. Tara’s mother would be there at the birth of our child which was due in late March. I also had to accept that all these questions and the self-doubt I felt were quite normal. As I worked through each question in my mind I made sure I got some sort of answer. Was I good enough? Well, I must be to have been nominated for overseas deployment in the first place, let alone be accepted. I was the sergeant in charge of the regimental aid post for my unit. I had been an instructor for years. I had already served 17 years in the Royal Australian Army Medical Corps and had nine postings ranging from hospitals to infantry battalions, artillery units to aviation and even water transport. Hell, I had even served with the Infantry Rifle Company in Malaysia for three months. If I didn’t have enough medical knowledge and experience by now then something was seriously wrong. No one could argue I wasn’t fit enough. I had never failed any of my physical training or swim tests. I always passed battle efficiency tests and had played a variety of sports in my time. I had run nearly every day of my army career, completed four marathons and done four ultra-marathons. At 35 I was one of the fittest soldiers in my unit.

			What would it be like there? To answer that question I read everything about Rwanda I could get my hands on. My unit’s intelligence section came up with different briefs as well. I attended every presentation about overseas service that Army Community Services gave and was ready to soak up everything I could learn during pre-deployment training in Townsville from soldiers who had already been to Rwanda. As for coping under pressure, I had received the best possible training that the Army and Medical Corps could give. I had never failed any of my promotional courses. I had just finished the unit survival instructor’s course in the NT outback and been recommended to return in the future as an instructor. I had been the only medic on the scene treating injured soldiers more times than I could remember, so I was sure I could do my job. Now it was a case of wait and see. Was I a good enough soldier? I believed I was. It is possible to be an outstanding medic without being such a good soldier. There are medics who have never served in a field unit or outside of a hospital environment. I had served all over the place. I was a qualified driver and had passed driving courses for trucks, buses, cars and APCs (for which I was a qualified crew commander). I was one of only four members in my unit at that time qualified to instruct on the Steyr rifle and Minimi machinegun. I had already served as an infantry company medic doing everything they did as well as my own medical work. If all this experience didn’t make me feel a little more confident then there was a problem.

			Could I die in Rwanda? The answer, frankly, was yes. I coped with that by putting it into context with everything else in life. Hell, I could walk out the door and get run over, or suffer a heart attack tomorrow. This was my big chance to do the job I had been trained to do in a real war situation. That is what all soldiers really hope to do, so I was not going to let the little things bother me.

			So I was in a good frame of mind after Christmas leave when I said goodbye to my family and friends and headed to Townsville. The majority of the second Rwandan contingent was from the north Queensland city. A company from the Townsville-based 2nd Battalion, the Royal Australian Regiment (2RAR) was providing major infantry security, so it made sense to have everyone go to 2RAR for the pre-deployment training. In the middle of January Townsville is really hot and humid and when I stepped off the plane I reminded myself to keep my fluids up. During the day the temperature regularly hits 35ºC, and drops to around 25ºC at night. It was perfect preparation for a mission to central Africa. I was allocated a room with a navy nursing officer theatre technician in a barrack block for sergeants and officers. He took the bed while I slept on a stretcher on the floor. I wasn’t bothered. I had done this a thousand times before. And, quite simply, I was prepared to do anything to make sure I went to Rwanda. No one was certain of a place on the mission and there were extra soldiers training, including a sergeant medic, in case someone had to pull out due to illness or injury.

			Pre-deployment training began at 0600hrs the next day. Physical training usually went for an hour followed by a shower, shave and breakfast at 0730hrs. Everybody ate in the same mess hall, and it wasn’t unusual to find myself sitting with a digger from the infantry on my left and the company commander or another officer on my right. Briefings and lectures started at 0900hrs and because the medical company’s lecture room was more than a kilometre away we started marching at 0830hrs to get there. This could be very uncomfortable in the unforgiving Townsville climate, particularly for those who weren’t used to it. Early on a couple of the female air force nursing officers was taken ill and another fainted. It took about a week for us all to become fully acclimatised.

			During the first couple of days we started to get to know each other. Medical company consisted of company headquarters, theatre, intensive care unit, ward, resuscitation bay, X-ray department, pathology, and Q-store. Each person in these sections knew what they had to do and that they had to do it well. Also within the medical company was an evacuation section made up of teams of two – a couple of air force medics and several Special Air Service Regiment (SAS) soldiers grouped into pairs. I bumped into the SAS soldiers and introduced myself. At the time my brother, Ken, was posted to the SAS Regiment in Perth. The medical company’s sergeant major was also SAS and he ended up calling me Ken for most of the Rwandan tour. Then when we returned to Australia he started calling my brother Terry! I had worked with SAS soldiers in the past and had been an instructor on some of their patrol medic courses at Healesville. They were extremely efficient, very fit and probably the best soldiers in the Australian Army. I had a lot of respect for them.

			The medical company had been drawn from 62 ADF units, a mixture of full-time and reserve army, navy and air force personnel. Among them were some old mates. Graham Boardman and I had served in 1st field hospital together in 1979. Graham was the spare sergeant training just in case one pulled out and unfortunately did not get to go. Lieutenant Robbie Lucas was an old student of mine from the course in Healesville in 1981. He had served as a medic before doing a nursing degree and then accepting a commission. Major Mary Brandy had been a captain in 1st Military Hospital in 1987 when I was a corporal medic. She would be my company’s second-in-command and the senior nursing officer for the contingent. I knew a couple of other corporals from around the traps and several officers from other units. Lectures and presentations went all day with welcome breaks for morning and afternoon tea and an hour off for lunch. We marched back and forth to our lectures two or three times a day. We had lectures on medical procedures presented by army reserve specialists who had already been to Rwanda. Usually from big Australian civilian hospitals, these specialists’ time was so valuable it was hard for them to get longer than six weeks away from work to help in a strife-torn country.

			One of the most important things that needed brushing up was weapons training. Everyone in medical company had to be confident with their Steyr rifle because it would be their personal weapon in Rwanda. We would be carrying them in the loaded condition along with three magazines of live rounds for the entire tour. Graham and I were qualified Steyr instructors, so our medical company CSM told us to run weapons training after work each day to bring any personnel who weren’t qualified up to speed. Some of the air force nursing officers had never even touched a weapon so we had to start the training from scratch.

			It took us about a week of training for two hours every day after lectures before we were able to report to the CSM that we believed these people were experienced enough and, most importantly, safe enough to go on the range for a zero practice. When the range practice was conducted a couple of days later, with experienced sergeants acting as coaches for those firing weapons, it didn’t go entirely to plan. After everyone in medical company zeroed their weapons it was my turn. Zeroing means customising the sights on your weapon so that the rounds hit the target you are aiming at. Each person is different and has to zero his own weapon. I fired my first group of five rounds into the target and when I moved forward to check it, I was amazed not to find any bullet holes. I checked the targets either side in case I had inadvertently aimed at them. Still nothing! Back on the firing mound I asked one of the RAEME soldiers to spot for me and fired my second group of five rounds. On moving forward once again I found no evidence of any rounds hitting the target. I was stunned. I was fully qualified on this particular weapon and had never missed a target in my life. Naturally it wasn’t long before I started to get some smartarse comments about how good a coach I was when I couldn’t even hit the target myself. When I fired the third group of five rounds my spotter saw a small burst of dust kick up on the extreme left-hand side of the range. He made some enormous adjustments to my sights before I finally had rounds hitting the target. It had taken me over 40 rounds to zero my own weapon! Afterwards all our weapons were packed into their crates ready to be put on the plane.

			One of the most important presentations was by the legal officer on “Rules of Engagement” and “Orders for Opening Fire”. He got a couple of the infantry sections to act as local Rwandan people and as an Australian rifle section. They gave us graphic demonstrations of when you were allowed to fire in self-defence and when you could not, and, importantly, how it related to our UN charter. If you fired a weapon without giving certain warnings, and could not clearly identify a direct threat to your life or the lives of those around you, it would be seen as murder by any military or civil court. This happened to British soldiers serving in Northern Ireland and they were found guilty of murder and sent to jail. Not surprisingly, all of us paid very close attention.

			Even the Padre, who was going with us, had his turn. He held a service to bless the whole contingent and made himself available for anyone who might have religious or personal matters they wanted to discuss with him. He issued every member of the contingent with a small bible with a plastic cover that had the same camouflage pattern as our uniforms. After our company commander allocated each person to the section they would be working in, two afternoons were set aside so that we could all get to know each other a little better. The first thing I did was gather together the ranks that would be working in the ward. I got each person to talk a little about themselves. The first thing I noticed was that most of them were extremely disappointed to be working in the ward because it probably wouldn’t be as exciting once we got to Rwanda. To be honest, so was I. They were a lot happier when I pointed out that at least we would have done our time in the ward when it came to the boss rotating us to new sections. Then it was time to meet all the officers who would be working in the ward. Each one was either a doctor or registered nurse. My job would be to look after the ward’s administration and be the go-between for the officers and other ranks.

			On one of our final mornings on Australian soil we received an up-to-date briefing on Rwanda from the intelligence section. It was, we were told, a landlocked country in East Central Africa approximately 20 degrees south of the equator. The country is equivalent to the area in Queensland that runs from the Gold Coast to the Sunshine Coast and across to Toowoomba. Its boundaries are shared with four other countries: Uganda, Tanzania, Burundi and Zaire. During the day the temperature tops 30ºC, except in the highlands where it ranges from 12—15ºC. We would arrive there just when the long rainy season from mid-March to mid-May was about to start. 

			We learned that for most of its history since the 15th century a Mwami or king had complete authority and the Watutsi, the forerunners of the current Tutsi tribe, had been the absolute rulers. In 1885 Rwanda became a German colony, but even then the Mwami continued to rule. After World War I the colony came under Belgian control until it gained independence in 1962.

			During the 1950s the Hutu tribe began to resist the Tutsi monarchy and finally overthrew the king in 1959, forcing many Tutsis to flee to neighbouring countries. Gregoire Kayibanda became president and his party, the Hutu Emancipation Movement (PARMEHUTU), held power. In 1973 a bloodless coup brought in a new government led by Major General Juvenal Habyarimana, another Hutu, and a civilian-military government was installed. Habyarimana remained in power through four elections, the last being in 1988.

			The Hutu-Tutsi conflict raised its ugly head again in 1990 when the Rwandan Patriotic Front (RPF), consisting mainly of Tutsis from Uganda, tried to topple the government. After three years of fighting, the two groups agreed to a ceasefire and a power-sharing agreement, but the fighting continued. In 1992 the Rwandan population was estimated at more than eight million and composed of 90 percent Hutu, nine percent Tutsi and one percent Twa (Pygmy). We learnt that the majority of people in the Rwandan capital, Kigali, were living in poverty and that hepatitis, dysentery, malaria and tuberculosis were rife. Just 50 percent of the people had access to safe drinking water. It was one of the poorest countries in the world. In 1993 the UN had again stepped in when the security council authorised a 2,550-strong United Nations Assistance Mission for Rwanda (UNAMIR) to supervise the peace accord. The assassination of Rwanda’s president on April 6th, 1994, when his plane was shot down by rocket fire sparked a deadly wave of violence. The slaughter began in earnest. Ten Belgian peacekeepers were killed trying to protect the president. The Hutu military blamed the RPF, and used the president’s death as the trigger for the revenge killings of the Tutsi. It is estimated in the three months after the assassination nearly a million Tutsis and moderate Hutus were massacred. The genocide only ended when the RPF and its Rwandan Patriotic Army (RPA) overthrew the Hutu government.

			On 11th May, 1994, the UN Secretary General Boutros Boutros-Ghali said the UN was considering sending troops to Rwanda in the hope of ending the civil war. These troops would be permitted to defend themselves if attacked. Australia’s contribution to this mission was medical support for the UN troops. We sent a fully equipped medical company, with an infantry rifle company for their security, and a support company. They served for six months. Although their primary role was to support the United Nations troops, there was a secondary role of providing humanitarian relief to the local people. My contingent was to replace them.

			When the briefing was over the three companies went to designated areas to await the final address to be given by our commanding officer Lieutenant Colonel Damian Roach. He assured the medical company that this was our mission, and to have no doubt that the infantry and support companies were there to enable us to complete that mission in the safest and easiest way. He told us to do whatever it took to support the UN and that he would personally look after the rest for us. I felt so proud when he said this, considering he was an infantry officer who had just been posted from 8/9RAR to command us. By the end of the tour I got to know him fairly well. He also reminded us that the first contingent had a very hard time in Rwanda and would need time to come to terms with what they had been through. The country had seen too much death. It was hard for a nation to get itself together again when there were still corpses lying everywhere. The first contingent was forced to remove hundreds of bodies from the hospital just to be able to set up the medical facility. The infantry rifle company had to start the security process without any knowledge of what they were getting into. The first Australians had done a magnificent job, working to fulfil the mission statement under horrific circumstances. The colonel asked us to take all this into consideration when we arrived and not to say anything about what our soldiers might appear to be doing or how they had set things up. Basically, he wanted us to only say, “Well done” when we were doing our handover and not to give anyone a hard time. They were very much on the edge and the last thing they needed was someone from the new contingent mouthing off about anything.

			Now there was little else to do but wait to be deployed. With all the training done, I felt ready and confident, although a little anxious. All I wanted now was to get over to Rwanda and do some “real” work. It felt good knowing that I had been chosen to go on this UN mission, and that it was a medical mission. Most of the previous UN missions Australia had been part of involved only a handful of medics amongst hundreds of armoured corps or signal corps soldiers. The mission in Cambodia, on which my brother had served as a medic, was basically a signals mission to set up communications. Somalia had been an armoured and infantry mission. Then the medics were supporting the other Australian troops. This time the medics were the ones being supported. The only thing left to do was pack our personal belongings and army kit into our trunks and hand them to the Q-store for transportation to the airport. Some air force personnel wanted to know if it would be all right to pack cans of shaving cream. Of course, I told them it was. Every soldier knows that if you pack shaving cream into trunks it’s likely to leak on everything in the aircraft hold. I mischievously looked forward to them opening their foam-filled trunks in Rwanda.

			We also spent half a day dipping our uniforms into large drums of Perigan which is supposed to remain in the material after it dries and act as a mosquito repellent. While we were doing this, each member of the contingent had their photo taken in front of the UN flag. When I asked the intelligence corporal taking the photos why we did this, he coolly told me it was so if anyone was killed they had an up-to-date photo to give to the media and, of course, the family. I thought, That’s a bit harsh, but fair enough.

			All that remained was to have our farewell parade where the Defence Minister and the Australian Army Land Commander would address us before we mounted buses for the journey to the airport. We were on parade and waiting for the dignitaries to arrive. After 40 minutes the Land Commander addressed us and revealed there was a problem with the plane. 
The radar system was not working and we would have to stay an extra night while the problem was fixed. Very early the next morning we finally arrived at the airport only to discover there was going to be a further delay of several hours apparently due to a hydraulic problem. There was nothing else to do but pick out a quiet area in the waiting lounge and sleep the time away. The plane belonged to Tower Air, which we nicknamed “Dodgy Brothers” because it seemed they were taking shortcuts to get the plane ready for takeoff. The Australian authorities were having none of this and we were not allowed to board until everything was in order. It was a frustrating period. All we wanted to do was get to Kigali where we would be based. While we waited, several soldiers told me they had read a short article about me in the Sunday Mail newspaper. Earlier that week some of us had been interviewed over the phone by the paper for stories they were writing about our deployment. I bought a copy and on page 22 was this article:

			Mission in Rwanda for 300 Aussies

			WHEN Tara Pickard gives birth in April, her husband Terry will be thousands of kilometres away in famine-struck Rwanda.

			Sgt Pickard is in the contingent of 300 which left Australia last night on a six-month United Nations-chartered mission to provide medical aid to the people of Rwanda.

			The Australian Medical Support Force – a mix of army, navy and air force personnel – flew out of Townsville last night on a 747 jumbo.

			They will replace a contingent which has been in Rwanda for the past six months. The timing of the latest humanitarian mission means Sgt Pickard will not see his baby until he or she is four months old.

			Tara flew up from Brisbane yesterday to be with her husband but their six-year-old daughter Alanna stayed at home. Having left Alanna three weeks ago when he flew up to Townsville for pre-deployment training, Sgt Pickard felt it would be too upsetting for her to say goodbye a second time.

			He said he was disappointed not be able to be at the birth of his second child in April or to help his daughter celebrate her seventh birthday next month. But he was looking forward to working as a medical assistant at the Kigali hospital in Rwanda.

			I ripped out the page and stashed it in my day pack so I could send it home later. After a boring seven-hour wait we were finally able to walk across the hot tarmac and climb the twenty-two steps to board the plane at 1250hrs. As we took off one of the central ceiling panels fell off and hit half a dozen soldiers on the head, luckily without injuring any of them. Half the plane’s seats were shaky, several lights weren’t working, and various bits of internal equipment were out of action. This, apparently, was how “Dodgy Brothers” operated. But even that didn’t stop a big cheer going up from all the soldiers, sailors and airmen when we left the ground. We were on our way at last, and we had only lost about 27 hours! After a quick stop in Singapore, it was on to Nairobi before we finally landed in Kigali in the small hours of the morning. We were now safely deployed and in country.

			Chapter Three

			Unamir II

			“The RPA soldiers stood around us, eyeing us up and down while they fidgeted with their AK47 rifles. One of them kept staring at the civilian Red Cross representative with us. He came up to me slowly and asked who she was. I told him she was with the Australian Red Cross and that she belonged with us. He looked her up and down a few more times before moving off slowly. We quietly shuffled her into the middle of our group. We hadn’t forgotten that in the past ten months these people had killed ten UN peacekeepers and also attacked some UN Children’s Fund (UNICEF) representatives.”

			After a long and tiring 18-hour flight we finally arrived at Kigali International Airport. We quietly disembarked and headed into the terminal. I could see the Australian infantry soldiers from the first contingent surrounding the building. They were fully kitted up with their weapons and wearing flak jackets and helmets. During my time in the Army I saw a lot of airports. This terminal was different. There were no regular passengers and there was no machine noise – only soldiers, our own and the RPA, eyeing each other off. It was a fairly modern building but the atmosphere was eerie. It was silent apart from the echo of 300 pairs of boots as we slowly made our way to customs. Everyone spoke in whispers. The damage the building had suffered during the war was clear to see. What little glass was left in the windows was full of bullet holes.

			It was a slow two-hour process to get through Rwandan customs. Four Rwandan civilians working as customs officers were watched carefully by the RPA officer. And none of them were in any hurry. The RPA soldiers stood around us, eyeing us up and down while they fidgeted with their AK47 rifles. One of them kept staring at the civilian Red Cross representative with us. He came up to me slowly and asked who she was. I told him she was with the Australian Red Cross and that she belonged with us. He looked her up and down a few more times before moving off slowly. We quietly shuffled her into the middle of our group. We hadn’t forgotten that less than a year earlier ten UN peacekeepers had been murdered, and there were attacks on some UN Children’s Fund (UNICEF) representatives.

			After what felt like an agonisingly long time, we were relieved to finally leave the building and board our trucks for the 40-minute drive to the Australian headquarters compound. Some of the soldiers, including me, started taking photos of the outside of the terminal. We were abruptly reminded by the CSM that the RPA didn’t take kindly to any sort of photos being taken so we put our cameras away. It was probably a really good move since it was still dark and the flashes might have brought an unwelcome response. The drive through Kigali’s dark, deserted streets was just as eerie as the airport. A few areas were lit by streetlights, but a lot were not. I didn’t see a single person on the street.

			Once inside the compound we dismounted and were immediately issued our weapons and ammunition. Some of the first contingent guided us to our lines where we could have a bit of a rest before starting the handover in the morning. We were already 27 hours behind schedule. It was 0300hrs and the handover of all positions was only four hours away because the entire first contingent was due to leave Kigali that afternoon. The commander of medical company, who had arrived two weeks earlier with the advance party, told me to go with him to the hospital compound at 0600hrs so we could start our ward handover before the rest of the staff arrived. There was no need for an alarm clock because very few of us slept and the Indian company which shared the compound started their early morning prayers at 0500hrs. The Hindu and Muslim prayers would go on loudly for about an hour before the Indians started work. Their primary role was providing engineer support to the whole UN mission. They also contributed to compound security by manning machinegun bunkers and assisting with front-gate security and night-roving picket. 

			The other ranks, corporal and below, shared a huge accommodation block with an Indian company. There were so many soldiers it meant living about ten to a room. The officers and sergeants had single rooms in a different block. I stored my gear in my room which consisted of a bed area against one wall, a locker, a sink and a shower cubicle. The previous occupant told me the water would be lucky to ever run, that the power cut out often and there was no way to secure the door. The glass in the door frame had been shot out the previous year. He gave me a good brief on how things worked and then headed off to get ready for his return to Australia. The room next door was allocated to Sergeant Eric Gutridge, a good friend of mine. Several years back we had served together in the military hospital and 8/9RAR. On this mission he was the preventative health team leader. He checked out his room and found several bullets under his sink left over from the war Rwanda had endured the previous year. All our rooms were pockmarked with bullet holes. I ended up using a panel marker to cover my door where the glass was missing. Eric used a piece of old cardboard.

			I met Major Peter Wheatley, the medical company commander, at the front gate at the time arranged. To move from the headquarters compound to the hospital compound meant walking about 200 metres along the road outside. Everyone had to travel as a group or have at least two infantry soldiers for protection. Before leaving the compound our weapons would always be put in the loaded condition, which involved a safety check followed by placing a loaded magazine onto the weapon. It always pays to have a quick look at other soldiers’ weapons to check that the safety locking device is in the correct position.

			On arriving at any safe compound it was necessary to return your weapon to the unloaded and safe condition. This required you to remove the loaded magazine, cock the weapon, check that there were no rounds in the internal workings, release the working parts forward and then actually pull the trigger before placing the safety switch in the safe position. If this procedure wasn’t carried out correctly there was a danger a round could be fired accidentally. Just inside the gates of each compound were small sandbag bunkers designed for this procedure which were nicknamed “Two Metre Ranges” due to the odd round being fired into them. This was classed as an unauthorised discharge (UD). Obviously, loading and unloading of weapons several times a day for six months can cause some soldiers to get a little lax. It was also costly. A UD would cost the perpetrator more than US$1,000 in fines.

			Major Peter Wheatley and I walked to the hospital compound with our escort. Entering the ward was a stark reminder of the damage war can do. This building was also peppered with bullet holes and there was a distinct lack of colour. Everything seemed dark and grey. Staff from the first contingent did a ward round, introducing me and Major Peter Wheatley to all the patients. Apart from three injured UN soldiers, the ward was full of civilians, mostly injured children. A ten-year-old girl, nicknamed Missy, had lost a leg and eye after stepping on a landmine. Her mother died in the explosion, but Missy somehow survived. The three soldiers were from the Tunisian battalion and had been injured when a member of their section stood on a mine. That soldier had died and these three had each suffered more than a hundred fragmentation wounds to their legs. One of them also lost an eye. Another two had been evacuated to Nairobi with traumatic amputations. A walk through the rest of the ward revealed more horrific gunshot wounds or mine blast injuries. In that first 30 minutes I saw more patients with traumatic injuries than I had in my previous 17 years of Army service. It was a shock to the system and I was glad I had a chance to absorb it all before the rest of the ward staff arrived.

			The handover went smoothly and I was appointed the new ward sergeant. As I walked around the small office I was amazed by how good a job the first contingent had done of converting this wing of Kigali Central Hospital into an Australian facility. When they first arrived the whole ward was full of rotting bodies that needed to be removed before it could be cleaned up and beds and other equipment brought in. I passed on as many “Well dones” as I could before bumping into a few of the medics I had come to know over the years. It was good to see them but they all looked tired. They were very happy to be finally going back to Australia.

			The rest of the new staff started arriving and settling in. The first thing some of them did was meet in the brew room and make coffee before starting work. One of the air force nursing officers could find only UHT milk in the fridge. She asked one of the first contingent if there was any real milk because she really didn’t like the taste of long-life milk. “Where the hell do you think you are?” he snapped. “We are in the middle of fucking Africa, so where the hell do you think they could get real milk from?” The nurse quietly slipped away and was never heard complaining about milk again.

			I spent the rest of the day working out the shift roster with the head nursing officer, an air force captain. We started with 12-hour shifts just to get things settled. I made sure the medical stocks were up to date and made a start on reducing the paperwork by throwing away anything that appeared to be duplicated. When the rest of the staff arrived I gave them their tasks and made sure all the patients were okay. Missy needed her dressings changed and I told one of the young air force nurses to do it. She went away and got everything, but returned a few minutes later to tell me that she wasn’t sure if she could do it. She had never seen such wounds and just looking at them made her feel ill, so I downed tools and went to help. Missy had at least 50 shrapnel wounds and it took us quite a while to change the dressings. After that I always allocated two medics or nurses to do dressings until everyone was used to the sight of the wounds.

			Meals were brought over in hot boxes from the headquarters compound by kitchen staff and handed out to the patients, and any leftovers were given to the on-duty staff. The CSM had this changed in the first week so that patients and staff had their own boxes. Specialists, the company commander, the CSM, and on-call evacuation and resuscitation teams had to be at the hospital all the time. They stayed in rooms on the first floor above the ward. The infantry soldiers from the platoon who remained at the hospital compound supplied stretcher teams and pack storemen for the resuscitation room and had a separate area of their own.

			Four locals, two men and two women, worked for us as interpreters. The men were at the hospital 24 hours a day. The women came in early in the morning and left each afternoon. They all spoke very good English, French, Rwandese and Swahili. Whenever a patient needed anything one of the interpreters helped us communicate. It took a while to get used to this system but it was a good way to start learning some of the language.

			All medics took turns on the two on-call resuscitation teams which consisted of a doctor, nursing officer and two medics. Team Alpha stayed at the hospital and Team Bravo stayed at the headquarters compound ready to go to the hospital if required. ‘Resus A duty’ basically meant sleeping at the hospital to await the arrival of any casualties. The on-call team had a room to sleep in and I found it extremely stressful just lying down and waiting, listening to footsteps coming towards the room and wondering if they were coming to get us. The echoing footsteps got louder as they approached the room, and the closer they got the faster my heart would beat in anticipation of being called out for a resus. Sometimes the footsteps carried on past the door and my heart rate would slow down again as I tried to settle back to sleep. Other times the footsteps stopped before there was a knock on the door. After literally bouncing out of bed, I would dress as fast as I could (sometimes not even doing up my bootlaces) just to get down to the resus bay, hopefully before the injured person arrived. Most of the people requiring resuscitation had been horrifically injured by mines, car accidents, gunshot wounds and the occasional grenade. A lot were saved only because of the excellent resus ability of the standby resuscitation teams. Once the casualty left the resus bay they would go to theatre or the intensive care unit. Then it was up to us to clean up the blood and old clothing, change linen and restock the emergency supplies. Once in a while a severed limb had to be removed, or perhaps the body of someone who didn’t survive. After a debrief it was back to the room, hopefully to get a little undisturbed sleep. During one 24-hour period that I was on duty, we had seven resuscitation casualties. During my six-month tour I did 29 Resus Team A and 13 Resus Team B duties. The evacuation teams consisted of a driver and medic, usually from special forces. Their job was to collect casualties from a variety of places, including the airport, and stabilise the casualty en route to the hospital where they would then be sent to the resus bay. There was always a team at the hospital on standby and three other teams at the headquarters compound – all special forces soldiers who were medically qualified and ready to move at a moment’s notice.

			The first few days in Rwanda were spent working flat out. I worked for 41 hours in the first three days and 83 hours by the end of the first week, including my first day off. One day sticks in my memory. We had five resuscitations, a sharp increase in the number of patients admitted to the ward, and a young girl died of complications arising from tuberculosis causing respiratory failure and cardiac arrest despite the best efforts of two special forces medics performing CPR. The CSM, Scotty, had to get her body ready for viewing and removal by her family. To make room for her in the morgue fridge I had to remove several bags of body parts and take them to the incinerator for burning. Just before the family arrived, Scotty and I quietly and respectfully washed her, and then stood by with bowed heads and solemn thoughts as her family tearfully paid their last respects and then took her away for burial. She was just nine years old.

			Taking body parts to the incinerator, which was located in the Rwandan part of the hospital, required a fully armed infantry escort. Sometimes the soldiers would ask what I had in the bags. When I told one young soldier he said there was no way he would help me carry them. After struggling 300 metres with my arms full, I decided it was easier to tell them it was rubbish. That way I at least got some help.

			At the end of each day everybody back in the headquarters compound had to line up for their evening meal. It took about 40 minutes to get to the serving point before heading for the large dining room. One evening, while I was waiting in line, I heard the shower generator start up. The generator converted cold water into hot and pumped it through pipes into a makeshift shower room. We could shower on Saturday, Monday and Wednesday; the men 5—5.30pm and the women 6—6-30pm. The generator was so loud you had to shout to be heard. On this day I sprinted off to have my shower and still managed to make it back in time for dinner because the queue was so long.

			My next door neighbour, Eric, was a very thrifty person. He had brought a sewing machine from Australia on the off-chance that some of the soldiers might need patches sewn onto their uniforms. We had all been issued UN patches and the medics had also been issued red crosses. Eric got busy with his machine and was soon backed up with orders. Sometimes he would work until midnight. Of course, there was a small payment to Eric for the service.

			Some of the drivers, myself included, were irritated by the time spent getting in and out of vehicles. We constantly had to put our webbing on and take it off, and when you don’t have your webbing, you have no spare ammunition magazines handy. Some of us carried small radios for communication when we were outside the compound. With this also in the webbing, it made it hard to hear what was going on. Naturally, Eric had the solution. With permission from the commanding officer and the RSM, he started making chest webbing. He drew a pattern on cardboard and started mass producing green and UN blue chest webbing. He churned out three sets in one night and it wasn’t long before chest webbing became commonplace. Just another donation to Eric’s family fund.

			Working in the ward got easier as time passed and people got used to the routine, so shifts were reduced to eight hours. I still liked to get to the hospital early to make sure there were no problems with the night staff and to attend the morning handover. Patients came and went, most of them children injured in mine explosions. We cared for UN soldiers and even the odd RPA soldier. The three Tunisians were there for quite a while before being discharged and returned to their unit for repatriation back home. I have always been pretty good at communicating with people from other countries by using a combination of hand gestures and sign language but for some reason I just couldn’t work out what one of the three Tunisians was after. I asked if it was water or food, or something to read, but he just kept shaking his head. No matter what I tried I could not get his meaning. The interpreters couldn’t help either. The Tunisian people are not shy about holding hands as a sign of friendship, much like young girls in Australia might. I found myself being walked down the ward with one of them holding my hand. I copped quite a few wolf whistles from my staff as I entered the tea room holding hands with this soldier. He took me to the fridge and showed me that he wanted milk. For the next week or two my fellow sergeants stirred me up, sending me flowers and saying that they were from the Tunisian soldier. One even wrote a fake invitation inviting me to live in Tunisia. It took a while to live it down.

			Two weeks before Easter the RSM, Alan Castle, after hearing of Eric’s sewing prowess, asked if he would be able to make a bunny suit. The RSM wanted to do something nice for the CARE Australia orphanage. Eric took up the challenge and started work that very night. He figured the hardest thing to make would be the rabbit’s head and so spent most of his time on that. After finishing the head, he made mittens for hands and used white plastic protective overalls as the body. The feet were the only thing he couldn’t work out. You couldn’t have a pair of army boots so I suggested the protective overboots worn by theatre when they operated on patients. A couple of days later the RSM said he would volunteer a digger to wear the suit but after some discussion I decided I’d do it. Naturally, within a few minutes Eric managed to give the good news to half the sergeants and the public relations officer, Major Seaman, who decided that he would make a little film out of the whole show to send back to Australia. He thought that some footage of Eric making the suit and then me wearing it around the barrack block would be a good place to start. After about 10 minutes I became aware of several issues. Firstly, I could see bugger all and would need an escort to guide me around. And secondly, it was extremely hot.

			Major Seaman also thought it would be a great idea if we went to the local Mother Teresa’s orphanage a week before Easter so he could get the footage of our humanitarian work back to Australia in time. Fine by me, I thought, it’ll get me out of working in the ward for a day. So off we went with the suit in an echelon bag. After about an hour of playing with the children, I slipped away to an unused room to change. Five minutes later I emerged to the delight of the sisters and the other hospital staff who had come with us. Unfortunately, some of the children didn’t know what to make of this giant, white bunny since they had never seen one before. The two-year-olds ran away screaming and hid amongst the sisters’ legs, but as soon as I started to hand out chocolate they cautiously returned. Some of the older kids came up to me and stared into my eyes and asked if I was a “muzungu” or white man, but I surprised them by speaking in their own language. After about two hours of being led around by the hand by one of the nurses because I couldn’t see anything, I returned to the room to change and nearly passed out from dehydration. I had been sweating profusely for two hours inside the plastic suit without a drink. Two litres of water went down in a flash. The day turned out to be a huge success and the grateful sisters thanked us as we helped clean up all the lolly and chocolate wrappers before returning to the hospital.

			The following week I headed to the local disused golf course for an Easter barbecue with children from the orphanage run by CARE Australia. There was no shortage of soldiers volunteering for this job, with at least an infantry platoon and all the off-duty nurses helping out. The Canadian contingent supplied the trucks to pick up more than a hundred children and as they began to arrive we could hear them all chanting “Australia, Australia”. As I listened I thought to myself, This is going to be a really good day. A few of us got the barbecue going and soon had sausages sizzling while others buttered bread rolls. We handed out soft drinks to the children and played soccer and football with them as well as chasing and running games. The kids were having a ball but the real surprise was still to come. I slipped away with one of the nurses to change into the bunny suit. It came as a complete surprise when I came out and waved to all the children. The commanding officer of our unit and the RSM hadn’t seen the suit and were impressed as was everyone else. My guide led me around as I handed out Easter eggs to all the children and staff, including our commanding officer. He quietly gave it back, telling me to give it to one of the kids. It was another hot day and I was wilting inside the suit but Major Seaman, always keen for a story, wanted a photo session with the kids, some of our soldiers and CARE Australia staff. I made a deal with him and the photos were taken with the rabbit head off! It was another hour before I could ditch it. This time I drank three litres of water and felt a little ill for the rest of the day, but it was worth it. A couple of weeks of fun had broken up the monotony of working in the wards.

			The UN was heavily involved in Rwanda at the time and it was necessary for some of us to visit other UNAMIR units around the country. These trips were more for goodwill than anything else but we jumped at any chance for a change of scenery. They also gave us the advantage of being able to gather local intelligence for our intelligence section. Information from different areas gave the section some insight into how the whole country was going, and hopefully whether there was any imminent threat to us or other units. My CSM tasked me to gather any information I could and write a report when I returned. My first trip was to Ruhengeri and Gisenyi up north to visit the Tunisian battalion, and this was the report:

			“On 8 March 1995 I was the medic allocated to a small contingent of Australian Medical Support Force (AMSF) to do a two-day reconnaissance of Ruhengeri and Gisenyi. We travelled in a convoy of four vehicles, one 6 by 6 Land Rover, one FFR, and two Land Rovers GS with a trailer. The team consisted of twelve infantry for protection, eleven operational support personnel including three operational headquarters staff and myself as the medic. The route taken was the ‘Blue Route’ to Ruhengeri and then on to the ‘Maroon Route’ to Gisenyi, firstly heading north-west then south-west.

			“‘MSR Blue’ is a very hilly distance of one hundred kilometres from Kigali to Ruhengeri with some gradients of 7.5% and 8%. The road is a double lane highway with white centre lines and is a sealed bitumen road. There are numerous potholes and several small rock slides along this route but these only cause minor delays. Only one roadblock was encountered twenty-five kilometres from Kigali with the RPA not holding up any United Nations vehicles.

			“‘MSR Maroon’ is also hilly and is a distance of sixty kilometres from Ruhengeri to Gisenyi. This road is also sealed and in a reasonably good state of repair although once again there are numerous potholes and rock slides. There are roadblocks both in and out of Ruhengeri and another one about ten kilometres before Gisenyi. There was no delay at Ruhengeri and a five minute delay at the last roadblock as the RPA moved other trucks out of the way to allow us through. Both ‘MSR Blue’ and ‘MSR Maroon’ experience delays due to the movement of herds of cattle down the roads. The RPA appear much more disciplined and friendly in this area.

			“Medical Facilities

			“On ‘MSR Blue’, approximately thirty-five kilometres from Kigali in a small town named Tare, was a dispensary sign and a Red Cross sign with an arrow pointing to a building on the left hand side of the road. As far as I could tell the building was completely deserted and derelict. Further on in a town named Nemba, approximately fifty kilometres from Kigali, I saw two local stretcher teams, one heading north into Nemba and the other heading south into Nemba which would indicate the presence of a reasonable medical facility. Unfortunately there were no signs to indicate this. There was also a Tunisian rifle company located in this area which is believed to have a medical section with them. At Ruhengeri there was a large local hospital with a dispensary on the left side of the MSR just on the entrance of town heading north. There also appeared to be a large UNICEF presence within the confines of this facility and there were at least twenty-five local people lined up at that dispensary. There was also a small hospital set up on the right hand side of the MSR heading north about five kilometres into Ruhengeri with some sort of United Nations presence. Both hospitals were clearly marked with red crosses and signs marked ‘Hospital’. At Gisenyi we came across a very large presence of CARE that had a number of trucks. They were all parked waiting for something; I would say permission to cross the border. With them were also several trucks marked ‘United Nations’ and ‘OIM’ which were used to transport local refugees from one place to another, hopefully home.
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